Regular Article

# THE EUROPEAN PHYSICAL JOURNAL PLUS



# Effect of quintessence on geodesics and Hawking radiation of Schwarzschild black hole

Ahmad Al-Badawi<sup>1,a</sup>, Sara Kanzi<sup>2,b</sup>, İzzet Sakallı<sup>2,c</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Physics, Al-Hussein Bin Talal University, P. O. Box: 20, 71111 Ma'an, Jordan

<sup>2</sup> Physics Department, Arts and Sciences Faculty, Eastern Mediterranean University, North Cyprus via Mersin 10, Famagusta, Turkey

Received: 27 December 2019 / Accepted: 23 January 2020 / Published online: 3 February 2020 © Società Italiana di Fisica and Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany, part of Springer Nature 2020

**Abstract** We study the timelike geodesics and the greybody radiation of the Schwarzschild black hole surrounded by quintessence field. Quintessence field is one of the highly plausible models for the dark energy. The effective potential along with the structure of the possible orbits for test particles in view of the various values of quintessence parameter are analyzed in detail. The exact solution of radial timelike geodesics for a test particle is obtained. Remarkably, it is shown that an increase in quintessence parameter decelerates the particles following the radial timelike geodesics so that the particles reach the singularity slower than the bare Schwarzschild case. The circular orbits of the test particles in case of non-radial geodesics are studied. We also discuss the Lyapunov exponent and the effective force acting on the particle in the presence of quintessence field. The effect of quintessence parameter on the greybody factor is also investigated. We consider the Miller–Good transformation method to compute the greybody factor and therefore to discuss how the Hawking radiation is affected from the quintessence field.

# Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Structure of SBHSQ	3
3	Geodesics of SBHSQ	4
	3.1 Radial timelike geodesics	5
	3.2 Circular timelike geodesics	7
4	Lyapunov exponent and effective force	12
5	Effective potential of a massless scalar field	14
6	Miller–Good transformation of SBHSQ	15
7	Greybody factor of SBHSQ	18
8	Conclusion	19
R	eferences	20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> e-mail: ahmadbadawi@ahu.edu.jo

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>e-mail: sara.kanzi@emu.edu.tr

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> e-mail: izzet.sakalli@emu.edu.tr

# **1** Introduction

In cosmology, dark energy (DE) is an unknown form of energy which is hypothesized to constitute most of the space, leading to accelerate the expansion of Universe [1]. The most widely accepted hypotheses since the 1990s are based on observations that support the current DE [2] and show that the expansion of the Universe is accelerating. In quintessence models of DE, the observed acceleration of the scale factor is caused by the potential energy of a dynamic field, referred to as the quintessence field [3-5]. Quintessence differs from the cosmological constant since it can vary both in space and in time. In order for it not to clump and form structure like matter, the field must be very light so that it has a large Compton wavelength. Although there is no evidence of quintessence is yet available, it has been getting attention since the mystery on the accelerated expansion of Universe has not been resolved. The existence of the quintessence generally predicts a slightly slower acceleration of the expansion of Universe than the cosmological constant. Some scientists think that the best evidence for quintessence would come from violations of Einstein's equivalence principle and variation of the fundamental constants in space or time. Moreover, scalar fields are considered as another forms of DE where broad types of scalar field models have been suggested, such as quintessence [6–11], phantom [12–14], K-essence [15,16] and quintom [17]. Scalar fields are predicted by the standard model of particle physics and string theory, but an analogous problem to the cosmological constant problem (or the problem of constructing models of cosmological inflation) occurs: Renormalization theory predicts that scalar fields should acquire large masses. (For details, a reader is referred to [18].) Recently, Cicciarella and Pieroni [19] have written an in-depth review of universality for quintessence and, moreover, discussed the application of inflation methods to models of quintessence. Detailed discussion has also been made for the quintessence that is non-minimally coupled with gravity.

On the other hand, the effect of quintessence on black holes (BHs) geodesics and the thermodynamics have received considerable attention in recent published papers. For example, Fernando [20] studied the null geodesics of Schwarzschild BH surrounded by quintessence (SBHSQ) and extracted some of the physical proprieties of the BH. Further, the null geodesics of Schwarzschild, Reissner–Nordström, Schwarzschild-de Sitter and Bardeen BHs surrounded by quintessence are investigated in [21]. In Ref. [22], the marginally stable circular orbits of a massive test particle are investigated in the geometry of the SBHSQ.

Our present paper is divided into two parts. In the first part, we derive the general formalism of the geodesics in the SBHSQ spacetime and study the effect of quintessence parameter on the timelike geodesics. Radial geodesics for massive particles are solved exactly. Study of the effective potential in radial motion shows that all radial orbits are unstable due to the presence of quintessence field. Circular timelike geodesics are also considered. All types of possible orbits in non-radial timelike geodesics are analyzed. We also determine the Lyapunov exponent and the effective force acting on the particle in the presence of quintessence field. In the second part of the paper, we evaluate the greybody factor and transmission probability of the SBHSQ. It is worth noting that semiclassical black holes emit thermal radiation: Hawking radiation [23-59]. Such radiation, as seen by an asymptotic observer far outside the BH, differs from the original radiation near the horizon of the black hole by a redshift factor and the so-called greybody factor. (See for example [60,61].) We then discuss the effect of quintessence on the greybody radiation and transformation probability. In fact, we derive the greybody factor with the help of transmission probability via the method of Miller-Good transformation [62]. To this end, we apply that particular transformation to the wave equation, which is nothing but the one-dimensional Schrödinger equation, and obtain the greybody factor.

Our paper is organized as follows: In Sect. 2, we introduce the SBHSQ spacetime. In Sect. 3, we derive the geodesic equations that give us a complete description of the motion of the particle in the geometry of SBHSQ. In addition, the radial and circular timelike geodesics for massive particles are investigated. In Sect. 4, we compute the Lyapunov exponent and effective force on the particle. Section 5 is devoted to the effective potential of massless scalar field. The Miller–Good transformation and greybody factor of SBHSQ are presented in Sects. 6 and 7, respectively. Finally, we make concluding remarks and discuss future work in Sect. 8.

#### 2 Structure of SBHSQ

In this section, we consider the SBHSQ spacetime, which was introduced by Kiselev [63]. To this end, Kiselev assumed a spherically symmetric static gravitational field with the following energy–momentum tensor:

$$T_t^t = T_r^r = \rho_q, \quad T_{\theta}^{\theta} = T_{\phi}^{\phi} = -\frac{\rho_q}{2}(3w_q + 1),$$
 (1)

where  $w_q$  is the quintessence state parameter having a range  $-1 < w_q < -\frac{1}{3}$ . The equation of the state for the quintessence field is given by

$$p_q = w_q \rho_q, \quad \rho_q = -\frac{3cw_q}{2r^{3(1+w_q)}},$$
(2)

where  $p_q$  is the pressure,  $\rho_q$  denotes the energy density and *c* stands for the positive normalization factor. To have an accelerated expansion of Universe, the quintessence pressure  $p_q$ must be negative. Furthermore, the matter energy density  $\rho_q$  must also be positive. Therefore, the normalization factor *c* must be positive for negative  $w_q$ . The geometry of the SBHSQ is given by [63]

$$ds^{2} = -f(r) dt^{2} + f^{-1}(r) dr^{2} + r^{2} (d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta d\phi^{2}),$$
(3)

where the metric function f(r) reads

$$f(r) = 1 - \frac{2M}{r} - \frac{c}{r^{3w_q+1}},\tag{4}$$

and M denotes the mass of the BH. One can compute the curvature of the above metric as follows:

$$R = 2T^{\mu}_{\mu} = 3cw_q \frac{1 - 3w_q}{r^{3(w_q + 1)}},$$
(5)

which has a singularity at r = 0 if  $w_q \neq \{0, \frac{1}{3}, -1\}$ . Metric (3) satisfies all the required limits as boundary conditions; when c = 0, we recover the Schwarzschild BH (SBH), and when  $c \neq 0$  we have SBHSQ. Throughout this work, we shall concentrate on the special case  $w_q = -\frac{2}{3}$ . Hence,

$$f(r) = 1 - \frac{2M}{r} - cr.$$
 (6)

The metric of SBHSQ (3) with f(r) given in (6) has two horizons. For 8Mc < 1, the inner  $(r_{in})$  and outer  $(r_{out})$  horizons are given by

$$r_{\rm in} = \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 8Mc}}{2c},\tag{7}$$

D Springer



**Fig. 1** f(r) versus r graph for various values of the parameter c. The plots are governed by Eq. (6). Here, 2M = 1

$$r_{\rm out} = \frac{1 + \sqrt{1 - 8Mc}}{2c},\tag{8}$$

where  $r_{out}$  likes the horizon in Schwarzschild–de Sitter BH. It should be noted that the area between the two horizons is significant; therefore, in analyzing the motion of massive particles we also consider this region. It is worth noting that for 8Mc > 1, the metric does not have horizons (naked singularity case). On the other hand, when 8Mc = 1 we have an extreme horizon. Figure 1 shows all three cases of possible horizons.

#### 3 Geodesics of SBHSQ

In this section, we will derive the geodesic equations for massive particles in the geometry of SBHSQ. For a generic spacetime with a line element  $ds^2 = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}$ , the Lagrangian can be derived from

$$L = \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \frac{\mathrm{d}x^{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}s} \frac{\mathrm{d}x^{\nu}}{\mathrm{d}s},\tag{9}$$

where *s* is an affine parameter along the geodesics. For the SBHSQ spacetime, the Lagrangian is

$$2L = -f(r)\dot{t}^2 + f^{-1}(r)\dot{r}^2 + r^2(\dot{\theta}^2 + \sin^2\theta\dot{\phi}^2),$$
(10)

in which a dot denotes a differentiation with respect to s. There are two conserved quantities, the energy E and the angular momentum  $\ell$  in  $\phi$  direction,

$$E = \frac{\mathrm{d}L}{\mathrm{d}i} = -\left(1 - \frac{2M}{r} - cr\right)\dot{t},\tag{11}$$

$$\ell = \frac{\mathrm{d}L}{\mathrm{d}\dot{\phi}} = r^2 \sin^2 \theta \dot{\phi}.$$
 (12)

Let us choose  $\theta = \pi/2$  and  $\theta = 0$  as the initial conditions. This means that the motion is restricted to the equatorial plane. Using the two constants of motion (11) and (12), the geodesics equation reduces to

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\mathrm{d}\phi}\right)^2 = \frac{r^4}{\ell^2} \left(E^2 - \left(1 - \frac{2M}{r} - cr\right)\left(\epsilon + \frac{\ell^2}{r^2}\right)\right). \tag{13}$$

We can obtain the r equation as a function of s and t, respectively,

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\mathrm{d}s}\right)^2 = E^2 - \left(1 - \frac{2M}{r} - cr\right)\left(\epsilon + \frac{\ell^2}{r^2}\right),\tag{14}$$

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\mathrm{d}t}\right)^2 = \frac{1}{E^2} \left(E^2 - \left(1 - \frac{2M}{r} - cr\right)\left(\epsilon + \frac{\ell^2}{r^2}\right)\right) \left(1 - \frac{2M}{r} - cr\right)^2.$$
(15)

Equations [(13)–(15)] give us a complete description of the motion of the particle. Here,  $\epsilon = 1$  corresponds to timelike geodesics and  $\epsilon = 0$  is for the null geodesics. We can obtain the effective potential by comparing Eq. (14) with the equation of motion for a unit mass test particle  $\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{dr}{ds}\right)^2 + V_{\text{eff}}(r) = \varepsilon_{\text{eff}}$ , where the effective energy is  $\varepsilon_{\text{eff}} = \frac{1}{2}E^2$ . Hence, the effective potential is given by

$$V_{\text{eff}}(r) = \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \frac{2M}{r} - cr \right) \left( \epsilon + \frac{\ell^2}{r^2} \right). \tag{16}$$

For a real classical region r is limited by the constraint  $\varepsilon_{\text{eff}} \ge V_{\text{eff}}(r)$ . When introducing u = 1/r, we get the u-equation as follows:

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}\phi}\right)^2 = \frac{E^2}{\ell^2} - \left(1 - 2Mu - \frac{c}{u}\right)\left(\frac{\epsilon}{\ell^2} + u^2\right) = P(u). \tag{17}$$

#### 3.1 Radial timelike geodesics

First, we study the radial timelike geodesics corresponds to the motion of massive particles in zero angular momentum ( $\ell = 0$ ). Then, Eq. (14) becomes

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\mathrm{d}s}\right)^2 = E^2 - 1 + \frac{2M}{r} + cr.$$
(18)

Choosing s to be the proper time  $\tau$ , Eq. (18) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{d^2 r}{d\tau^2} = \frac{c}{2} - \frac{M}{r^2}.$$
(19)

For radial timelike geodesics, the effective potential is given by

$$V_{\rm eff}(r) = \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \frac{2M}{r} - cr \right).$$
(20)

The evolution of the effective potential for the radial particles at different values of the normalization factor c is depicted in Fig. 2. Note that the horizons  $r_{in}$  and  $r_{out}$  are the intersection of  $V_{eff}$  with the *r*-axis. We observe from Fig. 2 that the effective potentials curves are concave down and fall as the normalization factor c increases which implies that there are no stable orbits in SBHSQ. One can check from Eq. (20) that  $V_{eff}$  has one maximum point only and no minimum points. Moreover, Fig. 2 shows that the radial motion of a massive particle is unbounded which means that the particle in SBHSQ can escape to infinity.

Let us consider the particle falling toward the center, under the attraction of gravity, from a finite distance  $r_0$  with zero initial velocity where the starting distance is related to the constant E by  $E^2 = 1 - \frac{2M}{r_0} - cr_0$ . Making the change of variable  $r = r_0 \cos^2 \eta/2$  and following the



**Fig. 2** Behavior of  $V_{\text{eff}}$  [Eq. (20)] for different values of normalization factor *c*.  $V_{\text{eff}}$  falls with the increasing *c*. For increasing *c*, the radial paths become more unstable



**Fig. 3** Particle fall into r = 0 singularity versus proper time in SBH (c = 0) and SBHSQ (c = 0.01 and c = 0.02). The fall apparently delays in the presence of quintessence field

same steps in driving the timelike radial geodesic described by the test particle in SBH [64], we obtain

$$\tau = \frac{2M}{\left(\frac{2M}{r_0} - cr_0\right)^{3/2}} \tan^{-1} \left[ \frac{\sqrt{2\left(\frac{2M}{r_0} - cr_0\right)\sin(\eta/2)}}{\sqrt{\left(\frac{2M}{r_0} - cr_0\right)\left(1 + \cos\eta\right) + 2cr_0}} \right] + \frac{\sqrt{\left(\frac{2M}{r_0} + cr_0\right)\left(1 + \cos\eta\right) + 2cr_0}}{\sqrt{2}\left(\frac{2M}{r_0} - cr_0\right)} r_0 \sin(\eta/2) \,.$$
(21)

For c = 0, the exact analytical expression (21) reduces to  $\tau = \sqrt{\frac{r_0^3}{8M}} (\eta + \sin \eta)$  which coincides with SBH case. To investigate the effect of quintessence matter on the timelike radial motion, we plot Eq. (21) in Fig. 3 and compare it with the SBH (without quintessence). From Fig. 3, it is observed that the quintessence field surrounding the Schwarzschild metric delays the particle following the timelike radial geodesics so that the particles reach the singularity slower than the SBH case.



**Fig. 4** The difference between circular geodesics radii  $r_{c \min}$  and  $r_h$  is shown as a function of c

# 3.2 Circular timelike geodesics

We shall study here the circular motion of massive test particle for the case  $\ell \neq 0$ . From (17), we obtain the conditions of the occurrence of circular orbits, namely  $g(u = u_c) = 0$  and  $g'(u = u_c) = 0$  in which  $r_c = \frac{1}{u_c}$  is the circular orbit of the particle. Hence,

$$\frac{E^2}{\ell^2} - \left(1 - 2Mu_c - \frac{c}{u_c}\right) \left(\frac{1}{\ell^2} + u_c\right) = 0,$$
(22)

and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}u} \left( \frac{E^2}{\ell^2} - \left( 1 - 2Mu - \frac{c}{u} \right) \left( \frac{1}{\ell^2} + u^2 \right) \right) \Big|_{u = u_c} = 0.$$
(23)

Using the above conditions [Eqs. (22) and (23)], we can obtain the expressions for the energy *E* and the angular momentum  $\ell$  of the particle as

$$E^{2} = \frac{2(u_{c} - 2Mu_{c} - c)^{2}}{u_{c}(2u_{c} - 6Mu_{c} - c)},$$
(24)

$$\ell^2 = \frac{(2Mu_c - c)}{u_c (2u_c - 6Mu_c - c)}.$$
(25)

We notice from Eq. (24) that for a physical acceptable motion the constraint  $(2u_c - 6Mu_c - c) > 0$  emerges naturally. Therefore,

$$r_{c\min} = \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 6Mc}}{c} < r_c$$
(26)

To have a physical orbit,  $r_c > r_{in}$  must hold. To justify this, we compare both radii [Eqs. (7)and(26)]; it is seen that  $r_{c \min}$  is larger so that  $r_{c \min} - r_{in} = \frac{1+\sqrt{1-8Mc}-2\sqrt{1-6Mc}}{2c} > 0$ . In Fig. 4, we have plotted  $(r_{c \min} - r_{in})$  versus c; it is clear that  $(r_{c \min} - r_{in})$  is always positive and as c increases the circular geodesics approaches the horizon. Let us note that when  $c \rightarrow 0$ ,  $r_{c \min} \rightarrow 3M$  we recover the radius of the unstable circular orbit of the SBH.

The radial dependence of both  $\ell^2$  (25) and  $E^2$  (24) of the test particle moving on circular orbits is shown in Figs. 5 and 6, respectively. It is seen from Fig. 5 that as  $r_c \rightarrow r_c \min$  the angular momentum goes to minus infinity. We also deduce from Eq. (25) and Fig. 5 that  $\frac{r_c}{M} = 4$  is the only orbit in which irrespective to the value of c,  $\frac{\ell^2}{M^2} = 16$ . However, Fig. 6



Fig. 5 Angular momentum Eq. (25) behavior of a massive particle versus distance  $r_c$  for various c values. It is observed that all curves coincide at  $\frac{r_c}{M} = 4$ 



Fig. 6 Radial dependence of energy Eq. (24) of circular orbits around SBHSQ for different values of c

clearly shows that with the decrease in the quintessence parameter c, energy possesses a minimum value.

The effective potential in the circular timelike motion is given by

$$V_{\rm eff}(r) = \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \frac{2M}{r} - cr \right) \left( 1 + \frac{\ell^2}{r^2} \right).$$
(27)

To investigate the stability of the equilibrium circular motion of a massive test particle, we make a plot of Eq. (27) in Fig. 7. The figure represents the behavior of the effective potentials of SBHSQ and SBH, jointly. Both figures are concave down, and particles can escape to infinity for a given energy larger than the asymptotic value of  $V_{\text{eff}}$ . There are two main differences between the two curves, the stable orbits and the asymptotic behavior. There are no stable parts in the curve  $V_{\text{eff}}$  for SBHSQ because of the steeply falling down, whereas the  $V_{\text{eff}}$  of SBH has some stable parts and is asymptotically constant. We conclude that there are no stable circular orbits due to the presence of quintessence matter. A plot of  $V_{\text{eff}}$  (27)



**Fig. 7**  $V_{\text{eff}}$  for massive particles versus *r* for the Schwarzschild BH without quintessence (c = 0) and with quintessence (c = 0.01). The steeply falling potential barrier in SBHSQ explains why the orbits remain unbounded. Here,  $l^2 = 14$  and M = 1



Fig. 8 The graph shows the relation of  $V_{\text{eff}}$  with the energy E

with three energy levels for a particular value for  $\ell^2 = 14$ , c = 0.01 and M = 1 is shown in Fig. 8. Since the relation  $\left(\frac{dr}{ds}\right)^2 + V_{\text{eff}}(r) = E^2$ , the motion of the particles (orbits) depends on the energy levels. To have a complete analytic description of different types of orbits, we will consider three cases according to different values of *E*. Separate cases are highlighted in the following:

*Case I* The energy level  $E = E_1 > E_c$  gives  $E^2 - V_{\text{eff}}(r) > 0$  and  $\frac{dr}{ds} > 0$ ; hence, if the particle starts its motion from larger *r*, it will cross the  $r_{\text{in}}$  and falls into the singularity. The corresponding orbit is shown in Fig. 9.

*Case II* The energy level  $E = E_2 < E_c$  gives  $E^2 - V_{\text{eff}}(r) \ge 0$ ; here, we have two regions. if the particle starts its motion at  $r > r_c$ , it will fall to a minimum radius and escape to infinity. But if the particle starts the motion at  $r < r_c$ , then it will fall into the black hole. An example to this case is shown in Fig. 10.



Fig. 9 The graph shows the timelike geodesics for  $E_1 = 0.45 > E_c$ , with c = 0.01,  $l^2 = 14$  and M = 1. The orbit (blue) starts from larger distance and ends below  $r_{in}$ 



Fig. 10 The graph shows the timelike geodesics for  $E_2 = 0.4 < E_c$ , with c = 0.01,  $l^2 = 14$  and M = 1. The orbit (blue) starts from larger distance and escapes to infinity

*Case III* The energy level  $E = E_c$  gives  $E^2 - V_{\text{eff}}(r) = 0$ , and  $\frac{dr}{ds} = 0$ ; hence, we have circular orbits. Because of the nature of the effective potential at  $r = r_c$ , the orbits are unstable. The corresponding orbit is shown in Fig. 11.



**Fig. 11** The graph shows the timelike geodesics for  $E = 0.425 = E_c$ , with c = 0.01,  $l^2 = 14$  and M = 1. The orbit (blue) starts from larger distance, approaches the BH and merges to the circular orbit at  $r = r_c$ 

Using Eq. (17), we can obtain the circular orbit of a massive particle with unit mass at  $r_c = r_{\min}$  as

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}\phi}\right)^2 = \frac{E^2}{\ell^2} - \left(1 - 2Mu - \frac{c}{u}\right)\left(\frac{1}{\ell^2} + u^2\right). \tag{28}$$

For  $\ell^2 = 200$ , we have  $E^2 = 356.8143470 = \left(1 - \frac{2}{r} - 0.01r\right) \left(1 + \frac{200}{r^2}\right)$ ; hence, the minimum circular radius becomes  $r_{\min} = 3.093402159$ , while  $r_{in} = 2.041684766$ . Figure 12 shows the circular orbit of a massive particle at  $r_c = r_{\min}$ .

It is possible to obtain a general solution to the equation of the orbits Eq. (28); hence,

$$\left(\frac{du}{d\phi}\right)^2 = 2Mu^4 - u^3 + \left(\frac{2M + c\ell^2}{\ell^2}\right)u^2 + \left(\frac{E^2 - 1}{\ell^2}\right)u + \frac{c}{\ell^2} = P(u).$$
(29)

The geometry of the geodesics will depend on the roots of the function P(u). For  $c \to 0$ , Eq. (29) reduces to  $P(u) = u^4 - \left(\frac{1}{2M}\right)u^3 + \left(\frac{1}{\ell^2}\right)u^2 + \left(\frac{E^2-1}{2M\ell^2}\right)$  as expected; we recover the non-radial geodesics for the SBH. For  $u \to \pm \infty$ ,  $P(u) \to \infty$ . Also when  $u \to 0$ ,  $P(u) \to \frac{c}{\ell^2}$ . Therefore, P(u) definitely has one negative real root.

Equation (29) can be written as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}\phi} = \mp \sqrt{P\left(u\right)},\tag{30}$$

D Springer



Fig. 12 The inner horizon and the minimum circular radius for the values  $l^2 = 200$ , c = 0.01 and M = 1

where P(u) is given by

$$P(u) = 2M(u - u_4)(u - u_3)(u - u_2)(u - u_1).$$
(31)

We will choose the "+" sign without lose of generality. When integrating Eq. (30), a relation between u and  $\phi$  in terms of Jacobi elliptic integral  $\mathcal{F}(x, y)$  is obtained as

$$\phi = \frac{\sqrt{2}\mathcal{F}(x, y)}{\sqrt{M(u_2 - u_3)(u_1 - u_4)}} + const,$$
(32)

where

$$\sin x = \sqrt{\frac{(u-u_2)(u_1-u_4)}{(u-u_1)(u_2-u_4)}},$$
(33)

$$y = \frac{(u_1 - u_3)(u_2 - u_4)}{(u_2 - u_3)(u_1 - u_4)},$$
(34)

$$\mathcal{F}(x, y) = \int_0^x \frac{d\lambda}{\sqrt{1 - y\sin^2 \lambda}}.$$
(35)

# 4 Lyapunov exponent and effective force

The Lyapunov exponent is a quantity that characterizes the rate of separation of infinitesimally close trajectories of the average rate at which nearby trajectories converge or diverge in the phase space. If the Lyapunov exponent is positive, then it implies a divergence between nearby trajectories, which means high sensitivity to initial conditions. To evaluate the Lyapunov exponent for the unstable timelike circular orbits, we use the expression derived by Cardoso et al. [65] as



$$=\sqrt{-\frac{c^2}{2} + \frac{6M^2}{r_c^4} - \frac{M}{r_c^3} - \frac{6Mc}{r_c^2} + \frac{3c}{2r_c}}.$$
(37)

The plot of the Lyapunov exponent  $\lambda$  as a function of *c* for the SBHSQ is shown in Fig. 13. We notice that the instability of the timelike circular orbits is more for the SBHSQ in comparison with SBH. To calculate the critical exponent for instability of orbits, we use [65]

$$\gamma = \frac{T_{\lambda}}{T},\tag{38}$$

where  $T_{\lambda}$  is the instability timescale given by  $T_{\lambda} = 1/\lambda$  and the time period  $T = \left|\frac{2\pi r_c^2}{\ell}\right|$  (Eq. 12). Therefore, as the values of *c* increases,  $\lambda$  becomes smaller for the same critical exponent.

When we expand the effective potential (27), it looks like

$$V_{\rm eff}(r) = -\left(r + \frac{\ell^2}{r}\right)c - \frac{2\ell^2 M}{r^3} + \frac{\ell^2}{r^2} - \frac{2M}{r} + 1.$$
(39)

It is seen that the contribution to the effective potential from the quintessence matter is  $-\left(cr + \frac{c\ell^2}{r}\right)$  compared to the SBH. We can also obtain the effective force on the particle as

$$F = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}V_{\mathrm{eff}}(r)}{\mathrm{d}r} = -\left(\frac{3M\ell^2}{r^2} + M + \frac{c\ell^2}{2}\right)\frac{1}{r^2} + \frac{\ell^2}{r^3} + \frac{c}{2}.$$
 (40)

The first terms in (40) are the attractive force acting on the particle since they are negative, while the last two terms are repulsive. The plot of Eq. (40) is shown in Fig. 14 in which  $\ell = 2$ , M = 1, and c = 0.08. Consequently, we have  $r_{in} = 2.5$ ,  $r_c = 5$ , and  $r_{out} = 10$ . and F = 0 at r = 1.86728. From this figure, we can deduce that there are no stable circular orbits for a massive particle and the force on the particle is positive for  $r > r_{in}$  which implies that the force is repulsive. This result agrees with the observations in cosmology that the DE is associated with a repulsive force tending to accelerate the expansion of the Universe.





#### 5 Effective potential of a massless scalar field

In this section, we derive the effective potential of a massless scalar field propagating in the geometry of SBHSQ. To this end, we first consider the Klein–Gordon equation [66]:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\partial_{\mu}\left(\sqrt{-g}g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\nu}\right)\Psi = 0,\tag{41}$$

in which  $\sqrt{-g} = r^2 \sin \theta$  for the metric (3). Thus, Eq. (41) reads

$$-\frac{1}{f}\partial_t^2\Psi + \frac{1}{r^2}\partial_r\left(r^2f\partial_r\right)\Psi + \frac{1}{r^2}\partial_\theta^2\Psi + \frac{\cos\theta}{r^2\sin\theta}\partial_\theta\Psi + \frac{1}{r^2\sin^2\theta}\partial_\phi^2\Psi = 0.$$
(42)

Considering the symmetries of the SBHSQ spacetime, one can set the scalar field  $\Psi$  as

$$\Psi(t, r, \theta, \phi) = \frac{S(r)}{r} \exp(-i\omega t) Y_{lm}(\theta, \phi), \qquad (43)$$

where exp $(-i\omega t)$  represents the oscillating function and  $Y_{lm}(\theta, \phi)$  is nothing but the spheroidal harmonics [67] (*l*: angular quantum number, *m*: magnetic quantum number). The radial part of the Klein–Gordon equation is obtained as follows:

$$\frac{f}{\mathcal{S}(r)}\mathcal{S}''(r) + \frac{f'}{\mathcal{S}(r)}\mathcal{S}'(r) + \left\{\frac{\omega^2}{f} - \frac{f'}{r} - \frac{\lambda}{r^2}\right\} = 0,$$
(44)

where  $\lambda = -l (l + 1)$ . When Eq. (44) is rewritten as

$$\frac{1}{\mathcal{S}(r)}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}r}\left(f\frac{\mathrm{d}\mathcal{S}(r)}{\mathrm{d}r}\right) + \left\{\frac{\omega^2}{f} - \frac{f'}{r} - \frac{\lambda}{r^2}\right\} = 0,\tag{45}$$

and introducing the tortoise coordinate

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}r_*}{\mathrm{d}r} = \frac{1}{f\left(r\right)},\tag{46}$$

then, after some algebra, the one-dimensional Schrödinger equation is obtained as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \mathcal{S}(r)}{\mathrm{d}r_*^2} + \left(\omega^2 - V_{\mathrm{eff}}\right) \mathcal{S}(r) = 0, \tag{47}$$

Deringer

where the effective radial potential in the Schrödinger-like wave equation (47) reads

$$V_{\rm eff} = \frac{f}{r} \left( f' + \frac{\lambda}{r} \right). \tag{48}$$

### 6 Miller–Good transformation of SBHSQ

Greybody factor is one of the quantum quantities of a BH. In short, it is the fraction of Hawking radiation that can reach spatial infinity. In this section, we shall focus on the Miller–Good transformation method [62] to derive the greybody factor of the SBHSQ. The Miller–Good transformation generates a general bound on quantum transmission probabilities. In this method, a particular transformation is applied to the Schrödinger equation (47) in such a way that the effective potential (48) is modified in order to yield a better transmission probability for the Hawking quanta [68].

Defining the new radial function  $S(r) = \frac{\psi(r)}{\sqrt{f}}$ , Eq. (47) can be rewritten in the following compact form:

$$\frac{d^2\psi(r)}{dr^2} + k^2(r)\psi(r) = 0,$$
(49)

where

$$k^{2}(r) = \left\{ \frac{\omega^{2}}{f^{2}} - \frac{f'}{rf} - \frac{\lambda}{r^{2}f} - \frac{f''}{2f} + \frac{f'^{2}}{4f^{2}} \right\}.$$
 (50)

Considering the Miller–Good transformation method, we first apply the following special transformation:

$$\psi(r) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{R'(r)}} \Psi[R(r)],$$
(51)

in which *R* is the *new position variable* such that *R*(*r*) is an invertible function, which implies that  $\frac{dR(r)}{dr} \neq 0$ . Without loss of generality, one can assert  $\frac{dR(r)}{dr} > 0$ , whence also  $\frac{dr}{dR(r)} > 0$ . Thus, the derivatives of the new function (51) yield

$$\psi'(r) = \sqrt{R'(r)} \Psi_R(R(r)) - \frac{1}{2} \frac{R''(r)}{R'(r)\sqrt{R'(r)}} \Psi(R(r)), \qquad (52)$$

$${}^{''}(r) = R'(r)\sqrt{R'(r)}\Psi_{RR}(R(r)) - \frac{1}{2}\frac{K'(r)}{R'(r)\sqrt{R'(r)}}\Psi(R(r)) + \frac{3}{4}\frac{R'^{2}(r)}{R'^{2}(r)\sqrt{R'(r)}}\Psi(R(r)),$$
(53)

where  $\Psi_R$  indicates  $\frac{d\Psi}{dR}$ . Thus, Eq. (51) recasts in

$$\Psi_{RR}(R(r)) + \left\{ \frac{k^2}{R^{\prime 2}(r)} + \frac{3}{4} \frac{R^{\prime \prime 2}(r)}{R^{\prime 4}(r)} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{R^{\prime \prime \prime}(r)}{R^{\prime 3}(r)} \right\} \Psi(R(r)) = 0.$$
(54)

Letting

ψ

$$K^{2} = \frac{1}{R^{\prime 2}(r)} \left\{ \frac{\omega^{2}}{f^{2}} - \frac{f^{\prime}}{rf} - \frac{\lambda}{r^{2}f} - \frac{f^{\prime\prime\prime}}{2f} + \frac{f^{2}}{4f^{2}} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{R^{\prime\prime\prime\prime}(r)}{R^{\prime}(r)} + \frac{3}{4} \frac{R^{\prime\prime 2}(r)}{R^{\prime 2}(r)} \right\},$$
(55)

one can rewrite Eq. (54) as a new Schrödinger-like wave equation:

$$\Psi_{RR} + K^2 \Psi = 0. \tag{56}$$

Deringer

Namely, Schrödinger equation (51) expressed in terms of  $\psi$  (*r*) and *k* (*r*) has been transformed into a new Schrödinger equation in terms of  $\Psi$  (*R* (*r*)) and *K* (*R* (*r*)). Meanwhile, the following combination

$$\sqrt{R'(r)} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{R'(r)}}\right)'' = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{R'''(r)}{R'(r)} + \frac{3}{4} \frac{R''^2(r)}{R'^2(r)}$$
(57)

is named as the "Schwarzian derivative" [69,70]. Thus, K can be simplified as

$$K^{2} = \frac{1}{R^{'2}(r)} \left\{ \frac{\omega^{2}}{f^{2}} - \frac{f'}{rf} - \frac{\lambda}{r^{2}f} - \frac{f''}{2f} + \frac{f'^{2}}{4f^{2}} + \sqrt{R'(r)} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{R'(r)}}\right)'' \right\}.$$
 (58)

As we have mentioned above, the parameter R'(r) must be positive. To this end, we choose another parameter as

$$j(r) \equiv R'(r); \tag{59}$$

with j(r) > 0, we can then write

$$K^{2} = \frac{1}{j^{2}(r)} \left\{ \frac{\omega^{2}}{f^{2}} - \frac{f'}{rf} - \frac{\lambda}{r^{2}f} - \frac{f''}{2f} + \frac{f'^{2}}{4f^{2}} - \frac{1}{2}\frac{j''(r)}{j(r)} + \frac{3}{4}\frac{j'^{2}(r)}{j^{2}(r)} \right\}.$$
 (60)

Furthermore, setting

$$j(r) = \frac{1}{J^2(r)},$$
 (61)

with J(r) > 0, we get

$$j'(r) = -\frac{2J'(r)}{J^{3}(r)}, \qquad j''(r) = \frac{6J^{\prime 2}(r)}{J^{4}(r)} - \frac{2J''(r)}{J^{3}(r)}, \tag{62}$$

and

$$K^{2} = J^{4}(r) \left\{ \frac{\omega^{2}}{f^{2}} - \frac{f'}{rf} - \frac{\lambda}{r^{2}f} - \frac{f''}{2f} + \frac{f'^{2}}{4f^{2}} + \frac{J''(r)}{J(r)} \right\}.$$
 (63)

In the case of J = 1, one can immediately observe that  $K^2(R) = k^2(r)$ ; therefore, both potentials  $[K^2(R) \text{ and } k^2(r)]$  have the same transmission amplitudes and consequently the same transmission probability. The second probability is to find the relation between two parameters J and f such that we will have different potentials and whence different transmission probabilities. For the later case, one can get the transmission probability from the following definition [62]:

$$\mathcal{T} \ge \sec h^2 \left\{ \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \wp \mathrm{d}r \right\},\tag{64}$$

in which  $\wp$  is given by

$$\wp = \frac{\sqrt{(h')^2 + \left[k^2 - h^2\right]^2}}{2h},$$
(65)

with h(r) > 0. Let us redefine function  $\wp$  as  $\overset{\sim}{\wp}$  in order to show the difference between k(r) and K(R). Then, we have

$$\mathcal{T} \ge \sec h^2 \left\{ \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \widetilde{\wp} dR \right\},\tag{66}$$

where  $\widetilde{\wp}$  is the function with respect to new transformation parameters and

$$dR = R'dr = jdr, (67)$$

so that Eq. (66) is given by

$$\mathcal{T} \ge \sec h^2 \left\{ \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{\sqrt{(h_R)^2 + \left[K^2 - h^2\right]^2}}{2h} \mathrm{d}R \right\}.$$
(68)

After substituting Eqs. (60) and (67) into Eq. (68) and further using  $h_R = \frac{dh}{dr} \frac{dr}{dR}$ , one can obtain

$$\mathcal{T} \ge \sec h^2 \left\{ \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{2h} \times \sqrt{\left(\frac{h'}{R'}\right)^2 + \left[\frac{1}{j^2} \left\{\frac{\omega^2}{f^2} - \frac{f'}{rf} - \frac{\lambda}{r^2 f} - \frac{f''}{2f} + \frac{f'^2}{4f^2} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{j''(r)}{j(r)} + \frac{3}{4} \frac{j'^2(r)}{j^2(r)}\right\} - h^2\right]^2} j dr \right\}.$$
(69)

As we have mentioned before R' = j, Eq. (69) recasts in

$$T \ge \sec h^{2} \left\{ \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{2h} \times \sqrt{(h')^{2} + \left[ \frac{1}{j} \left\{ \frac{\omega^{2}}{f^{2}} - \frac{f'}{rf} - \frac{\lambda}{r^{2}f} - \frac{f''}{2f} + \frac{f'^{2}}{4f^{2}} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{j''(r)}{j(r)} + \frac{3}{4} \frac{j'^{2}(r)}{j^{2}(r)} \right\} - jh^{2} \right]^{2} dr \right\},$$
(70)

which gives us the first form of the improved bound with the condition of h(r) > 0; then, j(r) > 0, too. One can further improve the bound by transforming j to J as follows [62]:

$$\mathrm{d}R = R'\mathrm{d}r = J^{-2}\mathrm{d}r;\tag{71}$$

therefore, the second form of the improved bound for the transmission probability is given by

$$T \ge \sec h^2 \left\{ \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{2h} \times \sqrt{(h')^2 + \left[ J^2 \left\{ \frac{\omega^2}{f^2} - \frac{f'}{rf} - \frac{\lambda}{r^2 f} - \frac{f''}{2f} + \frac{f'^2}{4f^2} + \frac{J''}{J} \right\} - \frac{h^2}{J^2} \right]^2} \, \mathrm{d}r \right\}.$$
 (72)

Here, we consider  $J_{\pm\infty} \neq 1$  with the help of  $h(+\infty) = h(-\infty) = \omega$  and then h' = 0. So, one can write Eq. (72) as

$$\mathcal{T} \ge \sec h^2 \left\{ \frac{1}{2\omega} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \left[ J^2 \left\{ \frac{\omega^2}{f^2} - \frac{f'}{rf} - \frac{\lambda}{r^2 f} - \frac{f'}{2f} + \frac{f'^2}{4f^2} + \frac{J''}{J} \right\} - \frac{\omega^2}{J^2} \right] \mathrm{d}r \right\}.$$
(73)

Moreover, we assume that the first and second terms of the integral are equal to make Eq. (73) more expressive. To this end, we set

$$J^2 = f, (74)$$

so then

$$f' = 2JJ'$$
, and  $f'' = 2J'^2 + 2JJ''$ . (75)

Deringer

We finally compute the transmission probability of the SBHSQ as follows:

$$T \ge \sec h^2 \left\{ -\frac{1}{2\omega} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \left( \frac{2JJ'}{r} + \frac{\lambda}{r^2} \right) \mathrm{d}r \right\}.$$
(76)

#### 7 Greybody factor of SBHSQ

In this section, we shall focus on the greybody factor of Schwarzschild black hole surrounded by quintessence, namely the SBHSQ. Within a semiclassical approximation, greybody factors can be investigated by using the Schrödinger-like one-dimensional wave equation to study the field scattering by the BH background. Actually, with the help of this method, we will be able to define the transmission and reflection coefficients of the BH [62]. Here, we concentrate on Eqs. (48) and (60) to define two kinds of the greybody factors and compare the obtained results over their graphs. The formula of the general semi-analytic bounds for the greybody factors is given by

$$\sigma_l(\omega) \ge \sec h^2 \left( \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \wp dr_* \right), \tag{77}$$

where  $\wp$  is the dimensionless greybody factor:

$$\wp = \frac{\sqrt{(h')^2 + (\omega^2 - V_{\text{eff}} - h^2)^2}}{2h},$$
(78)

in which h' implies the derivation with respect to r. By considering the conditions for h [h must be positive and  $h(+\infty) = h(-\infty) = \omega$ ], we can simplify Eq. (78) as

$$\wp = \frac{1}{2\omega} V_{\rm eff},\tag{79}$$

by using the tortoise coordinate as  $\frac{dr_*}{dr} = \frac{1}{f(r)}$ . Hence, greybody factor reads

$$\sigma_l(\omega) \ge \sec h^2 \left( \frac{1}{2\omega} \int_{r_h}^{+\infty} V_{\text{eff}} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{f(r)} \right).$$
(80)

After substituting the effective potential (48) and the derivative of the metric function into Eq. (80), we obtain

$$\sigma_l(\omega) \ge \sec h^2 \left( \frac{1}{2\omega} \int_{r_h}^{+\infty} \left( \frac{2M}{r^3} - \frac{c}{r} + \frac{\lambda}{r^2} \right) \mathrm{d}r \right).$$
(81)

But the result of Eq. (81) has a natural logarithm (ln) term, which means that the greybody factor of SBHSQ is measureless. Namely, the method that we have followed is failed. To overcome this difficulty, we shall consider the Miller– Good transformation [62]. To this end, let us rewrite Eq. (76) in the form of

$$\mathcal{T} \ge \sec h^2 \left\{ -\frac{1}{2\omega} \int_{r_h}^{+\infty} \left( \frac{2M - cr^2 + \lambda r}{r^3} \right) \frac{r \mathrm{d}r}{r - 2M - cr^2} \right\},\tag{82}$$

which can be rewritten as

$$\mathcal{T} \ge \sec h^2 \left\{ \frac{1}{2\omega} \int_{r_h}^{+\infty} \left( 2M - cr^2 + \lambda r \right) \left( \frac{1}{r^4} \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{c + \frac{2M}{r^2} - \frac{1}{r}} \right\}.$$
(83)

🖉 Springer



**Fig. 15**  $\sigma_l(\omega)$  versus  $\omega$  graph. The plots are governed by Eq. (85). For different *c* values, the corresponding greybody factors are illustrated. The physical parameters for this plot are chosen as M = l = 1

By considering the following asymptotic expansion

$$\frac{1}{c + \frac{2M}{2} - \frac{1}{r}} \simeq \frac{1}{c} + \frac{1}{c^2 r} + \frac{-\frac{2M}{c} + \frac{1}{c^2}}{cr^2} \dots,$$
(84)

we find (for the similar procedure, the reader is referred to [71])

$$\sigma_{l}(\omega) \equiv \mathcal{T} \geq \sec h^{2} \left\{ \frac{1}{2\omega} \left[ \frac{2M}{3cr_{h}^{3}} + \frac{2M}{4c^{2}r_{h}^{4}} + \frac{2M\left(\frac{1}{c^{2}} - \frac{2M}{C}\right)}{5cr_{h}^{5}} - \frac{1}{r_{h}} - \frac{1}{2cr_{h}^{2}} - \frac{-\frac{2M}{c} + \frac{1}{c^{2}}}{3r_{h}^{3}} + \frac{\lambda}{2cr_{h}^{2}} + \frac{\lambda}{3c^{2}r_{h}^{3}} + \frac{\lambda\left(-\frac{2M}{c} + \frac{1}{c^{2}}\right)}{4cr_{h}^{4}} \right] \right\}.$$
(85)

The above result represents the greybody factor of SBHSQ, which is obtained by the Miller–Good transformation. It is obvious that the specific form of the greybody factor depends on some parameters which are related to the potential barrier. This is indeed the case that gives the greybody factor in terms of the transmission coefficient corresponding to the potential barrier. The result obtained in Eq. (85) is depicted in Fig. 15.

# 8 Conclusion

In this article, we have investigated the effect of quintessence field on the timelike geodesic and Hawking radiation in the background of SBHSQ. To see the effect on the motion for timelike geodesics, we have analyzed the radial and non-radial geodesics. We have then obtained an exact solution for a test particle falling from rest toward the singularity. It is shown that due to the presence of quintessence field around the Schwarzschild BH, the particles are delayed along the timelike radial geodesics. An increase in quintessence parameter causes more delay for the falling time of the particles. In non-radial timelike geodesics, it is shown that there are no stable circular orbits. All possible motion of orbits, i.e., unstable circular orbits, radially plunge and fly-by types of orbits, are obtained. Moreover, we have calculated the effective force acting on massive particles. It is shown that the force is always repulsive, which agrees with the observations in cosmology that the DE is associated with a repulsive force tending to accelerate the expansion of the Universe. The Lyapunov exponent for the unstable timelike circular orbits, which gives the instability timescale for the geodesics of the particle, is discussed. We observed that the instability of the timelike circular orbits is more in the case of SBHSQ in comparison with the SBH.

For the thermal radiation analysis of the SBHSQ, we have used the Miller–Good transformation for obtaining the greybody factor. By this way, we have uncovered the effect of the quintessence parameter on the Hawking radiation, which could be detected by an observer at spatial infinity. We also supported our results with graphics. In particular, we have found that the decrease in normalization parameter (c) causes the greybody factor to rapidly approach one.

In the near future, we want to generalize our work for the spinning particles and for the rotating spacetimes. Thus, we want to examine the quintessence effect on the geodesics and Hawking radiation in more depth.

#### References

- 1. P.J.E. Peebles, B. Ratra, Rev. Mod. Phys. 75, 559 (2003)
- 2. P.A. Ade et al., Astron. Astrophys. 571, A1 (2014)
- 3. S. Perlmutter et al., Astrophys. J. 517, 565 (1999)
- 4. A.G. Riess et al., Astron. J. **116**, 1009 (1998)
- 5. P.M. Garnavich et al., Astrophys. J. 509, 74 (1998)
- 6. V.V. Kiselev, Class. Quantum Grav. 20, 1187 (2003)
- 7. Z. Shuang-Yong, Phys. Lett. B 660, 7 (2008)
- 8. C. Wetterich, Nucl. Phys. B 302, 668 (1988)
- 9. R.R. Caldwell, R. Dave, P.J. Steinhardt, Phys. Rev. Lett. 80, 1582 (1998)
- 10. C. Armendariz-Picon, V. Mukhanov, P.J. Steinhardt, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85, 4438 (2000)
- 11. C. Armendariz-Picon, V. Mukhanov, P.J. Steinhardt, Phys. Rev. D 63, 103510 (2001)
- 12. A.E. Schulz, M. White, Phys. Rev. D 64, 043514 (2001)
- 13. R.R. Caldwell, Phys. Lett. B 545, 23 (2002)
- 14. L.P. Chimento, R. Lazkoz, Phys. Rev. Lett. 91, 211301 (2003)
- 15. T. Chiba, T. Okabe, M. Yamaguchi, Phys. Rev. D 62, 023511 (2000)
- 16. R.J. Scherrer, Phys. Rev. Lett. 93, 011301 (2004)
- 17. Z.K. Guo, Y.-S. Piao, X. Zhang, Y.Z. Zhang, Phys. Lett. B 608, 177 (2005)
- 18. S.M. Carroll, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81, 3067 (1998)
- 19. F. Cicciarella, M. Pieroni, JCAP 1708 (2017)
- 20. S. Fernando, Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 44, 1857 (2012)
- 21. K. Ghaderi, Astrophys. Space Sci. 362, 218 (2017)
- 22. I. Hussaina, S. Alib, Eur. Phys. J. Plus 131, 275 (2016)
- 23. S.W. Hawking, Nature 248, 30 (1974)
- 24. S.W. Hawking, Commun. Math. Phys. 43, 199 (1975); Erratum: [Commun. Math. Phys. 46, 206 (1976)]
- R.M. Wald, in *The Thermodynamics of Black Holes*, ed. by A. Gomberoff, D. Marolf. Lectures on Quantum Gravity. Series of the Centro De Estudios Científicos (Springer, Boston, MA, 2005)
- 26. M.K. Parikh, F. Wilczek, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85, 5042 (2000)
- 27. P. Kanti, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 19, 4018324 (2004)
- 28. C. Barcelo, S. Liberati, M. Visser, Living Rev. Rel. 8, 12 (2005)
- 29. H. Pasaoglu, I. Sakalli, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 48, 3517 (2009)
- 30. R.G. Cai, L.M. Cao, Y.P. Hu, Class. Quantum Gravity 26, 155018 (2009)
- 31. S.H. Mazharimousavi, I. Sakalli, M. Halilsoy, Phys. Lett. B 672, 177 (2009)
- 32. I. Sakalli, K. Jusufi, A. Övgün, Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 50, 125 (2018)
- 33. P.A. Gonzalez, A. Övgün, J. Saavedra, Y. Vasquez, Gen. Rel. Gravity 50, 62 (2018)
- 34. K. Jusufi, I. Sakalli, A. Övgün, Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 50, 10 (2018)
- K. Jusufi, A. Övgün, G. Apostolovska, Adv. High Energy Phys. 2017, 8798657 (2017)

- 36. G. Gecim, Y. Sucu, Adv. High Energy Phys. 2018, 8728564 (2018)
- 37. G. Gecim, Y. Sucu, Adv. High Energy Phys. 2018, 7031767 (2018)
- 38. A. Övgün, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 55, 2919 (2016)
- A. Övgün, Adv. High Energy Phys. 2017, 1573904 (2017)
- 40. X.M. Kuang, J. Saavedra, A. Övgün, Eur. Phys. J. C 77, 613 (2017)
- 41. A. Övgün, I. Sakalli, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 57, 322 (2018)
- 42. W. Javed, R. Babar, A. Ovgun, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 34, 1950057 (2019)
- 43. I. Sakalli, A. Övgün, Europhys. Lett. 118, 60006 (2017)
- 44. I. Sakalli, A. Övgün, Eur. Phys. J. Plus 131, 184 (2016)
- 45. I. Sakalli, A. Övgün, J. Astrophys. Astron. 37, 21 (2016)
- 46. I. Sakalli, A. Övgün, Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 48, 1 (2016)
- 47. I. Sakalli, A. Övgün, Astrophys. Space Sci. 359, 32 (2015)
- 48. I. Sakalli, A. Övgün, Eur. Phys. J. Plus 130, 110 (2015)
- 49. I. Sakalli, A. Övgün, J. Exp. Theor. Phys. 121, 404 (2015)
- 50. I. Sakalli, A. Övgün, Europhys. Lett. 110, 10008 (2015)
- 51. I. Sakalli, A. Övgün, S.F. Mirekhtiary, Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. 11, 1450074 (2014)
- 52. I. Sakalli, M. Halilsoy, H. Pasaoglu, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 50, 3212 (2011)
- 53. I. Sakalli, M. Halilsoy, H. Pasaoglu, Astrophys. Space Sci. 340, 155 (2012)
- 54. I. Sakalli, Astrophys. Space Sci. 340, 317 (2012)
- 55. S.F. Mirekhtiary, I. Sakalli, Theor. Mat. Fiz. 198, 523 (2019)
- 56. L. Vanzo, G. Acquaviva, R. Di Criscienzo, Class. Quantum Gravity 28, 183001 (2011)
- 57. E.T. Akhmedov, V. Akhmedova, D. Singleton, Phys. Lett. B 642, 124 (2006)
- 58. A. Al-Badawi, I. Sakalli, S. Kanzi, Ann. Phys., Vol. 412 (2020) 168026. [arXiv:1907.10144 [gr-qc]]
- 59. S.F. Mirekhtiary, I. Sakalli, Indian J. Phys. (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12648-019-01617-1
- R. Jorge, E.S. de Oliveira, J.V. Rocha, Class. Quantum Gravity 32, no. 6, 065008 (2015). https://doi.org/ 10.1088/0264-9381/32/6/065008. [arXiv:1410.4590 [gr-qc]]
- J. Abedi, H. Arfaei, Class. Quantum Gravity 31, no. 19, 195005 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/31/19/195005. [arXiv:1308.1877 [hep-th]]
- 62. P. Boonserm, M. Visser, J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 42, 045301 (2009)
- 63. V.V. Kiselev, Class. Quantum Gravity 20, 1187 (2003)
- 64. S. Chandrasekhar, The Mathematical Theory of Black Holes (Clarendon, London, 1983)
- 65. V. Cardoso, A.S. Miranda, E. Berti, H. Witek, V.T. Zanchin, Phys. Rev. D 79, 064016 (2009)
- 66. S. Detweiler, Phys. Rev. D 22, 2323 (1980)
- 67. E. Notte Cuello, E. de Oliveira, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38, 585-598 (1999)
- 68. R.M. Wald, General Relativity (The University of Chicago Press, Chicago and London, 1984)
- 69. J. Weiss, J. Math. Phys. 24, 1405-1413 (1983)
- 70. Wikipedia, "Schwarzian derivative"
- F. Faure, T. Weich, Commun. Math. Phys. "Asymptotic Spectral Gap for Open Partially Expanding map" (2015)